STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002123

RECEIVED

MAR 16 2015

THE STATE

S.C. Supreme Court
APPELLANT,

V.

WHITLEE JONES,

RESPONDENT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ALPHONSO SIMON JR.
Assistant Attorney General
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the lower court erred in granting immunity based upon its finding the presumption afforded under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) applied when the stabbing occurred within the Respondent's residence, which was not "another place" under by the statute?
2. Whether the lower court erred in granting immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act when the defendant did not establish that she was acting in self-defense when she stabbed the victim?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Whitlee Jones (“Respondent”) was arrested for Murder in the death of her boyfriend, Eric Lee. She was indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury in February 2013. (Indictment No. 2013-GS-10-799).

Respondent moved for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Pursuant to that motion, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Circuit Court Judge, on August 12, 2014. (Tr. 1-89). Respondent was present and was represented by Mary Ford and Megan Ehrlich. Id. The State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Culver Kidd and Lauren Mulkey of the Ninth Judicial Circuit. Id. After the hearing, the lower court took the matter under advisement, and both parties provided the lower court with post-hearing briefs. (Post-Hearing Briefs).

On October 3, 2014, the lower court filed its Order Granting Immunity from Prosecution to Defendant. (Order, R. pp.). Appellant subsequently filed its Notice of Appeal.

The State now respectfully requests this Court reverse the lower court’s Order Granting Immunity from Prosecution to Defendant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 2, 2012, Respondent Whitlee Jones stabbed her live-in boyfriend, Eric Lee, in the chest. Lee died as a result of the stab wound.

There was a physical confrontation earlier in the evening.

Earlier that night on November 1, Respondent and Lee were involved in a physical altercation both inside and in front of their residence. (Tr. 22). This initial confrontation was over a cell phone. (Tr. 22, 34, Jones' Statement at p. 1). In her written statement, Respondent indicated that when she attempted to leave the residence, Lee began pushing her and punching her. (Jones Statement at p. 1). According to Respondent's statement, while she was outside of the residence, Lee pulled Respondent by the hair and attempted to get her to go back inside. (Jones Statement at p. 1). During this confrontation, some of Respondent's hair weave was removed from her head. (See Jones Statement at p. 1). Also, Respondent placed a call and left a voice message with Erica Grant to come pick her up from the apartment. (Tr. 30, 35, Defense Exhibit 8). Eventually, Respondent got away from Lee and she was able to run away from the apartment. (Jones Statement at pp. 1-2).

Respondent returned to the residence with two friends.

Erica Grant, one of Respondent's friends, testified that she received a voice message from Respondent that evening. (Tr. 30, 35). In response to the message she received, Grant and Jasmine Taylor, Respondent's cousin, went towards Respondent's residence immediately. (Tr. 30, 43).

Taylor testified that when they arrived at the apartment, they did not see Respondent. (Tr. 44). They found her down the street from the apartment. (Tr. 44, 46-7). The three then returned to Respondent's apartment. (Tr. 47-8).

In her written statement, Respondent stated that when she cooled down, she returned to the apartment. (Jones Statement at p. 2). She opened the door using a key, and when she entered, she observed the victim throwing her things around. (Jones Statement at p. 2). She made a second phone call to get someone to pick her up from the apartment. (Jones Statement at p. 2).

Taylor testified that Grant stayed outside, and Taylor and Respondent went inside the apartment to retrieve some of Respondent's belongings. (Tr. 48). Lee was inside the residence at that time. (Tr. 48). Taylor testified that Lee and Respondent fussed while they were taking Respondent's belongings from the apartment. (Tr. 49). Taylor noted that while she and Respondent were upstairs gathering her stuff, Lee continued to argue with Respondent. (Tr. 50). Lee did not get physical with Respondent, but Taylor noted that he did raise his voice at her loudly. (Tr. 50).

In her statement, Respondent explained that she put some of her belongings in the car. (Jones Statement at p. 2). As she was going around the apartment to make sure she was not leaving anything, Lee followed her around the apartment. (Jones Statement at p. 2). Respondent stated that while she was upstairs, she grabbed a knife for her protection. (Jones Statement at p. 2).

Respondent went downstairs first, Lee followed, and Taylor trailed both. (Tr. 50). Grant was outside. (Tr. 50-1). After the three went downstairs,

Respondent and Lee went into the living room, and Taylor stood outside the living room. (Tr. 51). Respondent stated in her written statement that Lee started yelling and pushing her again, telling her to get out. (Jones Statement at p. 2). Taylor noted that Respondent and Lee continued arguing. (Tr. 52, 53). In her statement, Respondent stated that Lee grabbed her as she was leaving and he asked her if she was mad. (Jones Statement at p. 2). Respondent also asserted that Lee shook her and she thought he was getting ready to hit her again. (Jones Statement at p. 2). Respondent stated that she then grabbed the knife out of her shirt and stabbed him. (Jones Statement at p. 2).

Taylor testified that Respondent then ran out. (Tr. 53, 55). Just prior, Taylor heard an "uh." (Tr. 54). Taylor noted that she never saw Lee hit Respondent. (Tr. 54). Taylor also did not see the stabbing.

When Respondent ran out, Taylor also ran outside. (Tr. 55, 56). Respondent, Taylor, and Grant got into the car and drove away. (Tr. 56). Respondent also indicated in her statement that after they initially drove away, she got worried that Lee was really hurt, and she instructed her friend to drive back to the house. (Jones Statement at p. 2). They turned around after Respondent told the other two that she had stabbed Lee. (Tr. 56, Jones Statement at p. 2). When they got back to the apartment, Lee was laying on the ground in the doorway of the apartment. (Tr. 56). Taylor noted he was still conscious, and he was moaning. (Tr. 57). They put Lee into his car, and Respondent drove Lee to the hospital. (Tr. 57, Jones Statement at p. 2).

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING IMMUNITY; RESPONDENT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO THE PRESUMPTION AFFORDED UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-440(C), AND THUS WAS NOT ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE IMMUNITY UNDER THE ACT.

The lower court erred in finding Respondent was entitled to immunity from prosecution by finding she was entitled to the presumption afforded under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). Since the entire incident that led to the stabbing occurred inside Respondent's residence, Respondent was not "in another place," as is required for the presumption under subsection 440(C) to apply. Thus, Respondent was not entitled to immunity under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450. As a result, the lower court's reliance upon S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) as the basis for granting immunity was an error of law and should be reversed.

Argument at hearing

At the beginning of the hearing, the State contended a hearing was not warranted because Respondent only requested immunity under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). (Tr. 8). The State's argument was consistent with the South Carolina Court of Appeals' original published opinion in State v. Manning, Op. No. 5228 (S.C.Ct. App. filed May 7, 2014)(Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 18, at 16) ("Manning I"), which was withdrawn by the Court of Appeals by Order filed June 26, 2014.¹ In that opinion, the Court of Appeals held that "another place" would

¹ After rehearing, the Court of Appeals filed an unpublished opinion affirming the conviction in Manning, but remanding the case to the circuit court for an immunity hearing. State v. Manning, No. 2010-176707, 2014 WL 6488708 (S.C.Ct.App. Nov. 19, 2014). Both parties are seeking certiorari in the Manning case.

not include one's dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle.² (Tr. 8-10). The State contended that all Section 440(C) does is remove the duty to retreat in situations outside of one's dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle. (Tr. 13). In essence, it extends the Castle Doctrine to other places in which one might otherwise not have the Castle Doctrine available. (Tr. 13). Further, the State contended that subsection 440(C) is not applicable because the situation presented in Respondent's case is specifically excluded in subsection 440(B). (Tr. 14).

Respondent argued that the general intent of the Protection of Persons and Property Act was to allow for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in the defense of themselves or others. (Tr. 19). Respondent surmised that the legislature excluded "other residence" from 440(A) and 440(B) because it would not be the same if a roommate or spouse was trying to get into the residence as someone else attempting to enter. (Tr. 19). Respondent submitted that the Legislature used the term "another place" "as a catchall to say includes every place." (Tr. 20, ll 11-2). Respondent disputed the State's contention that subsection 440(C) provides that a category of people who once had to retreat no longer have a duty to retreat. (Tr. 20). Further, Respondent contended that under S.C. Code 16-11-450, the language that allows for immunity under the "provisions of this act and other provisions" would allow immunity to be granted based upon the common law principles of self-defense. (Tr. 20).

² See Manning I, (Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 18, at 23).

The Lower Court Granted Immunity

On October 3, 2014, the lower court filed its Order Granting Immunity from Prosecution to Defendant. (Order, R. pp.). The lower court found that Respondent “is entitled to immunity under the Act because she was acting lawfully, was in a place where she had a right to be, was being attacked, and was acting in compliance with established common law principles of self-defense, based on facts established by a preponderance of the evidence.” (Order at p. 1, R. p.).

The lower court found that Respondent was entitled to immunity under S.C. Code § 16-11-440(C) despite the fact that she and the victim were co-residents in their shared home. (Order at pp. 4-6, R. pp.). The lower court recognized that S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) would not apply in Respondent’s case because the victim was a lawful resident of the place where the homicide occurred. (Order at p. 5, R. p.). The lower court disagreed with the State’s argument that “another place” did not encompass Respondent’s residence. (Order at p. 5, R. p.). The lower court held that where subsection 440(A) does not apply because of an exception under subsection 440(B), the “another place” language in subsection (C) does not preclude one from using force or deadly force to defend themselves in one’s own residence. (Order at p. 5, R. p.). The lower court noted that the presumption of reasonable fear found in subsection 440(A) would not apply, but immunity could still be afforded under 440(C). (Order at p. 6, R. p.).

Standard of Review

Whether a defendant is entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act must be decided prior to trial if either party moves for a determination regarding the Act's application to a defendant's case. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011). "[W]hen a party raises the question of statutory immunity prior to trial, the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence." Id. at 411, 709 S.E.2d at 665. S.C. Code Ann. 16-11-440(C) states:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001) (citing State v. Cutter, 261 S.C. 140, 199 S.E.2d 61 (1973)). The appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829. Review is limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion. Id. The appellate court may not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but must determine whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829; see generally Felts v. Richland County, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991) ("In law actions, the lower court must be affirmed where there is "any evidence" to support its findings.").

The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, at 408, 709 S.E.2d at 664; Mid-State Auto Auction of Lexington, Inc. v. Altman, 324 S.C. 65, 69, 476 S.E.2d 690, 692 (1996). Unless there is something in the statute requiring a different interpretation, the words used in a statute must be given their ordinary meaning. Id. When a statute's terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning. Duncan, 392 S.C. at 408-09, 709 S.E.2d at 664; Sloan v. Hardee, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007).

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). “Section 16-11-450 provides immunity from prosecution if a person is found to be justified in using deadly force under the Act.” Id. “Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity. This includes all elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat.” Id. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266.

Respondent was not entitled to immunity under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450 because the Act was inapplicable; Respondent was not entitled to the presumption under the Act under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).

Respondent was not entitled to immunity in this case because she was not entitled to the presumption afforded under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C)

because her residence does not constitute “another place” that would allow for immunity under the statute. S.C. Code Ann. 16-11-440(C) states:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

At issue is whether Respondent’s residence qualifies as “another place” where he had a right to be in order to be eligible for immunity under this provision of the Act in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A). Appellant submits that it does not. When read in conjunction with the other subsections of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440, it is clear that “another place” in subsection 440(C) refers to places that do not include a defendant’s residence, dwelling, or occupied vehicle.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) states:

(A) A person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered **a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle**, or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle; and

(2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) (emphasis added). In subsections (B), (D), and (E), the statute specifically refers to the application of the presumption in subsection (A), reflecting that it applies to only a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle. In light of the specific references to dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle in those other subsections, Appellant submits that it clear that “in another place” in subsection (C) refers to a place other than a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle. This is further supported by the example of another place provided in subsection (C), one's “place of business,” which does not fit within the definition of a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle.

Since subsection (C) does not apply to one's residence, the court's finding that Respondent was entitled to the presumption under subsection (C) was in error. As a result, the grant of immunity should be vacated, and the case should be remanded back for trial.³

This interpretation is not inconsistent with the intent of the Act as listed in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420. The main intent of the Act, which was to codify the Castle Doctrine and expand it to include occupied vehicles and places of business, are accomplished when S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 is read and the words contained in the statute are given their plain and ordinary meanings. The Castle Doctrine is extended to occupied vehicles under the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A), and the Doctrine is extended to places of business in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).

³ Appellant would note that this argument was rejected by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in State v. Douglas, 768 S.E.2d 232, 244 (Ct. App. 2014), reh'g denied (Feb. 19, 2015). The State is seeking further review in Douglas.

“The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” Sloan v. Hardee, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007). In doing so, we must give the words found in the statute their “plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation.” Id. at 499, 640 S.E.2d at 459. Thus if the words are unambiguous, we must apply their literal meaning. Id. at 498, 640 S.E.2d at 459.

However, “the statute must be read as a whole and sections which are part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect.” S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper County, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006). We therefore should not concentrate on isolated phrases within the statute. Id. Instead, we read the statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose. State v. Sweat, 379 S.C. 367, 376, 665 S.E.2d 645, 650 (Ct.App.2008), aff'd, 386 S.C. 339, 688 S.E.2d 569 (2010). In that vein, we must read the statute so “that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous,” id. at 377, 665 S.E.2d at 651, for “[t]he General Assembly obviously intended [the statute] to have some efficacy, or the legislature would not have enacted it into law” id. at 382, 665 S.E.2d at 654.

CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011).

The lower court’s interpretation of “another place” does not take into consideration the General Assembly’s intent as reflected in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440. Clearly, the General Assembly in drafting S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 made a distinction between “dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle” and another place. Otherwise, the legislature would have included those specific terms in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) as was done in each of the other subsections in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440. Furthermore, the General Assembly would have included dwelling, residence, and occupied vehicle with place of business in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). Appellant respectfully submits that

the lower court's interpretation of "another place" renders the term meaningless. Specifically, under this interpretation, "another" is rendered surplusage.

Appellant further submits that the interpretation of "another place" made by the lower court ignores the distinction between the presumptions afforded by S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) and S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). In S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A), the defendant "is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person" if the facts of the case fit within the scenarios outlined in paragraphs (1) and (2) of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A). In essence, a defendant proves the third prong of self-defense when subsection 440(A) applies. The presumption afforded under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) is different. It sets forth that a defendant does not have a duty to retreat when he is attacked in another place where he has a right to be.

Appellant respectfully submits the lower court's finding that the intent outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420 was to provide the protections of the Act even when those involved are co-tenants is contradicted by S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(B). If the General Assembly truly intended the Act to cover scenarios similar to the one presented in Respondent's case, then 440(B) would not limit the application of 440(A) when the person against whom deadly force has the right to be in the residence, dwelling or occupied vehicle. See, e.g., State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013)(noting that victim was a social guest at dwelling where shooting occurred and was therefore rightfully

there; thus, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(B) applied and the defendant was not entitled to the presumption afforded under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A)). Further, Appellant would note it would be logical for the Legislature to not intend to extend the presumption to situations similar to the one presented in this case and leave certain categories of cases involving self-defense to the purview of jury resolution.

In all, Appellant submits the lower court erred in finding Respondent was entitled to the presumption afforded under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). The grant of immunity should be reversed, and this case should be remanded for further proceedings.

II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING IMMUNITY UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-440(C); RESPONDENT FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT SHE WAS ACTING IN SELF-DEFENSE.

At issue is whether there was evidence to support the lower court's finding that Respondent was acting in self-defense in killing her boyfriend. Appellant submits the lower court erred in finding that she was.

Argument at hearing

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