STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Appeal from Charleston County

JUL 29 2015

J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge **S.C. Supreme Court**

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

WHITLEE JONES,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002123

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT.

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

Arguments of counsel

Following the reception of evidence, defense counsel Ford argued respondent was entitled to immunity under the Act. Respondent had no duty to retreat since she was in her own home, and she had called Erica Grant for help. She had also tried to call 9-1-1. Tr. 68, l. 17-70, l. 1.

Ford reminded the judge that the decedent had "violently pulled out her [Respondent's] hair." The decedent was committing at least two violent crimes: Criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature, and kidnapping. Respondent was trying to get out of her own house, "and the decedent would not let her leave. Respondent had to run out the backdoor to escape. Even when the respondent was able to flee, the decedent continued to follow her. He tried get her back into the house by dragging her by her hair.

Tr. 70, l. 2 – 71, l. 13. “The whole time he’s up on her, following her, intimidating her, cursing her, calling her names. He is being very intimidating this whole entire time.” Tr. 71, ll. 4-22.

Defense counsel said respondent was not angry that evening even though the police had tried to get her to say that she was angry. Tr. 72, l. 8-73, l. 1. Respondent “had every reason to believe he was going to do something to her again. And that’s why she grabbed that knife in self-defense, just in case. She wasn’t brandishing it at him. So he had no reason to do anything to her.” Tr. 72, l. 16-73, l. 13.

Counsel reminded the judge that respondent was begging a neighbor to help her out as she was suffering this abuse, but the “neighbor doesn’t do a thing to help her.” Counsel noted that people often do not want to get involved in violence involving a neighbor, thinking “it’s domestic.” Tr. 73, l. 14-74, l. 8. Counsel argued that respondent had a right to protect her life, and that the government had recognized the serious nature of domestic violence by mandating an arrest be made when a call is placed, and by not dropping charges merely because the victim later changed her mind. Tr. 74, l. 1-75, l. 16.

Defense counsel argued that respondent had met the elements of self-defense. Respondent was not at fault for bringing on the difficulty in her own house, and she honestly believed she was in danger of losing her life or sustaining serious bodily injury. Counsel argued the level of violence was apparent here when considering respondent’s batterer dragged by her hair. Counsel argued the tapes showed how fearful respondent was that evening. Tr. 76, l. 13-77, l. 16. These immunity hearing exhibits are on file with this Court for viewing.

The assistant solicitor argued that respondent was not entitled to the presumption of fearfulness under the Act entitling her to use deadly force. Tr. 79, ll. 8-15. He argued that this was an issue of self-defense that the jury should decide. The solicitor acknowledged in response to the judge's questions that respondent did not have a duty to retreat but he claimed respondent was not being held against her will that night. Tr. 81, l. 4-84, l. 4.

Defense counsel responded that the recordings in this case "speak for themselves of how intimidating and controlling and possessive and dominating he was, that evening, in particular, your Honor." "We all saw the video of the patrol car where Ms. Jones is so upset that she passes out, your Honor. To suggest that she's just being some hysterical female, is just completely, I think, out of line." Tr. 84, ll. 10-18.

The trial judge cited this court's opinion in State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 346, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013) while noting that both respondent and the decedent shared the house. The trial judge noted as did this court in State v. Curry that the presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril or death did **not** apply because the decedent had an equal right to be in the dwelling or residence.

Regardless, respondent, like the defendant in State v. Curry was still entitled to the protection of S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (C) which states that a person who is not engaged in unlawful activity in a place where they have a right to be has no duty to retreat, and she has a right to stand her ground and meet force with force, including deadly force.

The judge issued his written order which was filed on October 3, 2014 granting immunity. R.*. The judge ruled that respondent was entitled to immunity under S.C.

Code § 16-11-440 (C) since she was attacked in her own home. The again cited this Court's opinion in State v. Curry in support of his ruling. R. p. *. (Order at p. 4-5). The judge stated in his order that although he was relying on State v. Curry, he chose not to rely on State v. Manning, Op.No. 2014-UP-411, 2014 Westlaw 6488708 (filed November 19, 2014) since it was still pending on rehearing at the time. R. p. *. (Order at p. 5). The judge wrote:

To hold that a person cannot utilize Section 16-11-440 (C) if the person were inside of their own home would create a **nonsensical result**—that a person can defend themselves from attack by their spouses, lovers, or any other co-resident **while outside of their home, but not inside of their home**. When using force or deadly force against someone else that has a right to be there, but is acting unlawfully, the person defending themselves **simply loses the presumption of reasonable fear under (A) and they must establish the fear element through the other principles of self defense**. The Court must examine each individual factual situation to determine whether the Defendant had the reasonable belief that their actions were necessary to prevent death, or great bodily injury, or the commission of a violent crime as defined in section S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-60.

R.* (emphasis added). The judge found that respondent did not bring on the difficulties, and that “throughout the evening, her actions demonstrated that she wanted to get away from Mr. Lee and to retain her phone.” The judge also found that the decedent committed at least two violent crimes, criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature and kidnapping, against respondent that evening. Order at 7. R. *. The judge further found respondent had reason to believe that violent crimes were about to be committed against her again when she acted with the knife. The judge found respondent did not have a duty to retreat, and that the state's argument that the reasonableness of someone's fear could **only be resolved by a jury**, and a not a judge, was inconsistent with the purpose of the castle doctrine. Order at 8. R. *.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court correctly granted respondent immunity where she was attacked inside her own home, and the solicitor's position that she was entitled to "stand her ground" protection under the immunity statute **outside** of her home, but not **inside** of her home would lead to an absurd result the legislature could not have intended.

The state argues that respondent was not entitled to immunity because the Act was inapplicable. The state acknowledges that its present argument had been rejected in State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 768 S.E.2d 323 (Ct.App. 2014). However, the state argues it is seeking further review in Douglas that a defendant attacked in his residence was not entitled to immunity for being in "another place he had a right to be where he was acting lawfully." Tr. 13, l. 4 – 20, l. 17.

Respondent most respectfully submits that to accept the state's argument that respondent would have been entitled to stand your ground outside of her residence, but not within it where she was being attacked, would result in a nonsensical absurd ruling which the legislature could not have intended. Judge Nicholson, as will be seen below, deemed it "nonsensical." Defense counsel correctly argued that the legislature could not have intended S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (C) to take away a right citizens already had not to retreat before the immunity act was ever passed.

Further, this Court's opinion in State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013), also supports the lower court's ruling that the fact the decedent was a guest or co-tenant gave him the right to be in the house still does not remove the protection of S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (C), even though S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (A) was inapplicable to

respondent given the decedent's status. Unlike the defendant in Curry, respondent in this case did demonstrate that she satisfied the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by a preponderance of the evidence.

The judge's ruling is supported by ample evidence that respondent was lawfully in her own home when she was attacked by the decedent. While the decedent undoubtedly had a right to also be in the residence, respondent had no duty to retreat. In essence, to find respondent had a duty to retreat would have put her in a worse position on her right to defend herself than she would have been in prior to the Protection of Persons and Property Act.

Respondent was not engaged in unlawful activity when she was attacked in a place **she had a right to be**, pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-11.440 (C). To hold that respondent would have been protected if the decedent had chose to attack her at her workplace or on the street, but that she was not entitled to the protection of the Act because she was attacked while inside her own home would lead to an absurd result the Legislature did not intend. E.g. Doe v. SCDSS, 407 S.C. 623, 757 S.E.2d 712 (2014).

Consequently, the state's argument that apparently respondent could only seek protection under S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (A) but is disqualified because the decedent also had a right to be in the home would result in a nonsensical result. See Brief of Appellant at 11-14.

The circuit court judge did not err in finding respondent met the elements of self-defense, and that she had no duty to retreat while with inside her own home. The judge also correctly refused to reach the absurd result urged by the solicitor in this case.

2.

The court correctly ruled respondent was entitled to immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act where she established she was acting in self-defense when attacked inside her own house, and the state's argument that only a jury could determine self-defense ignored the legislative intent of the immunity statute.

On the night of the fatal incident, respondent was in their home where she had every right to be. The decedent attacked her and pulled her hair to "try to force me back in the house." Respondent screamed for help but a neighbor refused to intervene. When respondent returned to move her belongings the decedent grabbed her and shook her. Respondent stabbed the decedent before he hit her again. R. p. *. (Respondent's statement at 1-3).

The judge said he observed respondent's raw emotions on the tape, and he correctly questioned how the solicitor could argue that "in a domestic situation" the party under attack was protected by the immunity statute everywhere but in their own home. Tr. 5, l. 8 – 15, l. 23. The judge correctly ruled in the final analysis that the solicitor's position that respondent was not entitled to any protection in this instance under S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (C) because "A and B of [S.C. Code § 16-11-440] specifically excludes it" was "nonsensical." R. p. *. (order granting immunity). Respondent had every right to return to her home, and she did not have to cower outside until the decedent allowed her to return home on all of his terms, or he left.

The state on appeal acknowledges that the trial judge has to make a determination by the preponderance of the evidence whether or not the defendant is entitled to

immunity. See, State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). Brief of Appellant at 9. This Court in State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013), has made it clear that a defendant in respondent's situation is entitled to stand her ground, meet force with force, and respond with deadly force as long as she is in a place where she has a right to be—her home—and she is not acting unlawfully towards her guest or her roommate. See, also, State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 768 S.E.2d 232 (Ct.App. 2014).¹ Further, despite evidence that the decedent had committed criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature and kidnapping in his actions against respondent that evening, the state apparently argues that immunity should not have been granted because the witnesses did not indicate they **saw** the decedent actually hit respondent while they were at her apartment. Brief of Appellant at 22.

The state also seems to fault respondent for going back to her own house that evening even though she had every right to be there. Brief of Appellant at 22-23. In essence, and most respectfully, the state attempts to analyze all of respondent's actions in her own home in an unreal world where the state submits respondent apparently had every duty to **avoid** standing her ground in her own home.


There was ample evidence to support the circuit judge's decision that respondent met the elements of self-defense, and that she was entitled to immunity under (C) of S.C. Code § 16-11-440 (C). The ruling of the lower court should therefore be affirmed.

¹ Pending on certiorari as of the date of filing of this initial brief of respondent.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing arguments, the ruling of the lower court should be affirmed.